RECEIVED

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

AUG 12 2015
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM FLORENCE COUNTY
General Sessions Court

William Seals, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2014-000849

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Derron Jardell Myers,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

James T. McBratney, Jr.
P.O. Box 3890
Florence, S.C. 29502-3890
(843) 662-8155
Attorney for Appellant

Alan Wilson
Attorney General

Deborah R. J. Shupe, Esq.
Senior Assistant Deputy
Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3727

E. L. Clements, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit
180 N. Irby Street
Florence, SC 29501
(843) 665-3091
Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN PROCEEDING WITH TRIAL IN DEFENDANT'S ABSENCE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 29, 2013, Deron Jardell Myers was indicted in case no. 2013-GS-21-01167, with two counts of attempted murder, a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (1976) and one count of possession of a weapon during a crime of violence, a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490 (1976).

The trial commenced on April 14, 2014 before the Honorable William Seals, Circuit Court Judge, and concluded on April 15, 2014 with the defendant, Deron Jardell Myers, being found guilty on all three counts of the indictment.

On April 15, 2014, Myers was sentenced to 20 years on each count of attempted murder and 5 years for the count of possession of a firearm during the commission of a crime of violence. The sentences were ordered to run concurrent.

FACTS

Deron Jardell Myers was indicted in a three count indictment in the Court of General Sessions, Florence County, Indictment no.: 2013-GS-21-01167, with two counts of attempted murder, a violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-03-29 (1976) and one count of possession of a weapon during a crime of violence, in violation of S. C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490 (1976).

The case was called to trial before the Honorable William Seals, Circuit Judge, on April 14, 2014 (R.p.7, line 3-13). Myers was not present in the courtroom at the call of the case.

The court proceeded to question defense counsel on the notice provided to Myers requiring his attendance at trial. Upon counsel's advising the court that he had met with Myers that morning at his office, the court instructed the bailiff to announce the name of the defendant three times to see if he answered. Upon his failure to answer, the court determined that the defendant was absent from court, even though he was given notice that the trial would go forward without his presence. (R.p.7, line 17-R.p. 8, line 17).

The court then proceeded with the selection of the jury with no further instructions to the jury regarding the defendant Myers' absence from the courtroom (R. p. 8, line 18-R.p.9, line 19). The state presented its first witness, Michael D'Angelo Taylor. At the conclusion of Taylor's testimony the jury was excused for a lunch break (R.p.57, line 20).

Following the jury being excused for a lunch break, the Deputy Solicitor moved for a bench warrant against defendant Myers, with no objection from defense counsel, the court granted the Deputy Solicitor's motion (R.p. 5, line 16 - 24).

Upon resumption of the case following the lunch break, defense counsel advised the court

that the defendant was present and was in fact present at the time the trial began but was unable to gain entry into the courtroom because the bailiff had informed him that he was not allowed to enter the courtroom. The bailiff sent Myers to the 10th floor courtroom where he remained while his trial commenced (R.p. 58, line. 1- R.p.59, line 15).

The trial court in its charge to the jury at the conclusion of the evidence stated the following:

Furthermore, ladies and gentlemen of the jury, at the beginning of this trial the defendant was on the tenth floor of this courtroom instead of the 11th floor courtroom. Apparently, he has received instructions from the court bailiff to go to the 11th instead of here. This resulted in the defendant being absent during the opening statements and the first witnesses' testimony, however, he has been present in the courtroom since that time. In this regard and under the laws of this state, a defendant may be tried even if the defendant does not attend his trial or even part of the trial; but the fact that the defendant was not present during this short time at the beginning of the trial, may not be considered against the defendant in any manner whatsoever. Do not consider the fact in any way in your deliberations. It was a simple mix-up between the bailiff and the defendant and should not prejudice the defendant in any way. (R.p. 186, line 15-R.p. 187, line 10).

There was no further mention or additional charge to the jury concerning the defendant's absence from court.

At the conclusion of the trial the defendant was convicted of both counts of attempted murder and one count of possession of a weapon during a crime of violence. Defendant Myers was sentenced to 20 years on each count of attempted murder and 5 years on the count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, the sentences to run concurrent.

ARGUMENT

1. BECAUSE THE SIXTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION GUARANTEES THE RIGHT OF AN ACCUSED TO BE PRESENT AT EVERY STAGE OF HIS TRIAL, THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT PROCEEDED TO TRIAL IN THE ACCUSED'S ABSENCE.

A trial judge must determine a criminal defendant voluntarily waived his right to be present at trial in order to try a defendant in his absence. *State v. Patterson*, 367 S.C. 219, 229, 625 S.E. 2d 239, 244 (Ct. App. 2006) (citing *State v. Jackson*, 288 S.C. 94, 95, 341 S.E.2d 375, 375 (1986)).

Here the trial court merely asked defense counsel, "Did you provide him notice to attend his trial?" (R.p. 7, line 14-15). When defense counsel responded affirmatively, the court further inquired, "Do you have a letter to that effect we could make a part of the record?" (R.p. 7, line 17-19). Defense counsel responded that Myers had been in his office that morning. (R.p., line 20-22). Other than instructing the bailiff to call for the defendant three times, no other inquiry was made by the court. (R.p. 8, line 4-17).

No efforts were made to determine if the defendant was in the tenth floor courtroom, where other defendants and Myers had been sent, by the bailiff. The jury selection, opening arguments and the testimony of the first state's witness, all crucial stages in the trial, proceeded without the presence of Myers.¹

It is crucial that the court make a determination that Myers voluntarily waived his right to be present at trial and therefore was properly tried *in absentia*. *State v. Ravenell*, 387 S.C. 449, 443, 692 S.E.2d 554, 558 (Ct. App. 2010).

1. Myers' counsel failed to move for a continuance to allow time for him to locate his client.