ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA RECEIVED

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS AUG 14 2015

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal From Florence County
The Honorable William Seals, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-000849

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DERON JARDELL MYERS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

E.L. CLEMENTS, III
Solicitor, Twelfth Judicial Circuit

180 N. Irby Street
Florence, SC 29501
(843) 665-3091

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Florence County

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The circuit court properly proceeded with the trial in Appellant's absence because Appellant knew when his case would be called for trial, and that he would be tried in his absence if he did not appear for trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Deron Jardell Myers was indicted on two counts of attempted murder and one count of possession of a weapon during a crime of violence. The case was called for trial on April 15, 2014, before the Honorable William Seals, Circuit Court Judge. The jury convicted Appellant as charged, and the circuit court sentenced him to twenty years incarceration on each attempted murder conviction and five years incarceration on the possession of a weapon conviction, all to run concurrently. This appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 29, 2013, the Florence County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on two counts of attempted murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, arising from an incident on April 5, 2013, during which two people were shot. The case was called for a jury trial on April 14, 2014, before the Honorable William Seals, Circuit Court Judge.

When the State called the case, Appellant's counsel indicated he was ready to proceed, but his client was not present. Counsel informed the circuit court he gave Appellant notice of the trial date, and Appellant was actually in counsel's office that morning. The circuit court stated for the record Appellant signed a bond form acknowledging he understood his right to be present at trial, and the trial would proceed in his absence if he failed to attend. The court instructed the bailiff to announce Appellant's name three times outside the courtroom to see if he answered, but Appellant did not respond. (Trial Transcript [TT], pp. 1-2; Record on Appeal [R.], pp. 7-8).

The court found "the defendant in this case had notice to be present at trial and was warned that he would be tried in his absence should he fail to attend." The court further found "the defendant is absent from court even though he was given notices that we would go forward without him." (TT, p. 2; R., p. 8). The trial then proceeded in Appellant's absence.

After opening statements and the testimony of one of the State's nine total witnesses (eight in the case-in-chief and one additional witness in reply), court recessed for lunch. The State then requested a bench warrant for Appellant based on his failure to appear at trial, which the court issued without objection. (TT, pp. 25-51; R., pp. 31-57).

When court resumed after the lunch break, Appellant was present in court with counsel, who advised the court “[Appellant] tried to get into the courtroom this morning with his family,” but “the bailiff told him he was not allowed in this courtroom and sent him to the 10th, so he sat in the 10th the whole time.”¹ The Clerk explained the bailiff probably asked Appellant if he was “a” defendant, and not realizing he was the defendant in the on-going trial, mistakenly told him to go to the tenth floor where all defendants were called. The circuit court then asked if there were motions “of any kind” at that time, and Appellant’s counsel responded “no, sir.” (TT, pp. 52-53; R., pp. 58-59)

At the close of the State’s case, Appellant’s counsel made a general directed verdict motion, arguing “the State has not produced sufficient evidence for this matter to go forward.” After the State recounted the evidence presented, the circuit court denied Appellant’s directed verdict motion. Appellant then renewed the motion at the close of his case, and the court denied it. (TT, pp. 128-130, 167; R., pp. 134-136, 173). Appellant never objected to the trial initially proceeding in his absence, or alleged a violation of his right to be present during trial.

During the jury charge, the circuit court instructed the jury:

[A]t the beginning of this trial the defendant was on the tenth floor of this courtroom instead of the eleventh floor. Apparently he had received instructions from the court bailiff to go to the eleventh instead of here. This resulted in the defendant being absent during opening statements and the first witness’ testimony. However, he has been present in the courtroom since that time. In this regard and under the laws of this state, a defendant may be tried even if the defendant does not attend the trial or even part of the trial; but the fact that the defendant was not present during this short time at the beginning of this trial, may not be considered against the defendant in any manner whatsoever. **Do not consider the fact in any**

¹The fact no one was allowed to enter the courtroom indicates the trial had already started.

way in your deliberations. It was a simple mix-up between the bailiff and the defendant and should not prejudice the defendant in any way.

TT, pp. 180-181; R., pp. 186-187) (emphasis added). Appellant did not object to any portion of the jury charges, or ask for additional instructions regarding his absence from the courtroom. (TT, p. 195; R., p. 201).

The jury convicted Appellant on all charges, and the circuit court sentenced him to twenty years incarceration on each attempted murder conviction and five years incarceration on the possession of a weapon conviction, all to run concurrently. (TT, pp. 206, 209; R., pp. 212, 215). This appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

The circuit court properly proceeded with the trial in Appellant's absence because Appellant knew when his case would be called for trial, and that he would be tried in his absence if he did not appear for trial.

Appellant asserts that the circuit court erred by proceeding with the trial in his absence. As a threshold matter, this issue is not preserved for appellate review. Even if preserved, however, Appellant's assertion is meritless.

A. Preservation

It is well established in South Carolina that an issue must be raised to and ruled on by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review. Roberts v. State, 408 S.C. 123, 757 S.E.2d 744, 748 (Ct. App. 2014) (*citing* State v. Jennings, 394 S.C. 473, 716 S.E.2d 91 [2011]); State v. Passmore, 363 S.C. 568, 611 S.E.2d 273, 281 (Ct. App. 2005). "Issue preservation rules are designed to give the trial court a fair opportunity to rule on the issues, and thus provide [appellate courts] with a platform for meaningful appellate review." Herron v. Century BMW, 395 S.C. 461, 719 S.E.2d 640, 465 (2011); *see also* I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724-25 (2000) (the preservation requirement enables the lower court to rule properly after it has considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments, and prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and give him another opportunity to prove his case).

Appellant never objected to the trial proceeding in his absence, even after he appeared in court, nor did he move for a mistrial based on his absence during the initial portion of the trial. Since the issue was not raised in the circuit court, it is not preserved for appellate review. *See* Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 594 S.E.2d 458, 498 (Ct.

App. 2004) (“without an initial ruling by the trial court, a reviewing court simply [is] not able to evaluate whether the trial court committed error”).

B. Notice of Right to be Present

Even if the issue is preserved, the circuit court committed no error. In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Banda, 371 S.C. 245, 639 S.E.2d 36, 39 (2006). An appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous. *Id.*; *see also* State v. Ravenell, 387 S.C. 449, 692 S.E.2d 554, 557 (Ct. App. 2010) (same).

While an accused has the constitutional right to be present at every stage of his trial, the right can be waived, and a defendant can be tried in his absence. Ravenell, 692 S.E.2d at 557. The trial judge must determine a criminal defendant voluntarily waived his right to be present at trial before proceeding in the defendant’s absence, and make findings of fact on the record that the defendant (1) received notice of his right to be present and (2) was warned he would be tried in his absence should he fail to attend. *Id.* at 557-558; *see also* Rule 16, SCRCrimP (“Except in cases wherein capital punishment is a permissible sentence, a person indicted for misdemeanors and/or felonies may voluntarily waive his right to be present and may be tried in his absence upon a finding by the court that such person has received notice of his right to be present and that a warning was given that the trial would proceed in his absence upon a failure to attend the court.”).

Notice of the term of court in which a defendant will be tried is sufficient notice for the defendant to make an effective waiver of his right to be present at trial. Ravenell, 692 S.E.2d at 558; Ellis v. State, 267 S.C. 257, 261, 227 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1976); State v.

Fairey, 374 S.C. 92, 100, 646 S.E.2d 445, 448 (Ct. App. 2007). In this case, it is clear Appellant had notice of the term of court in which his case would be called for trial.

Appellant's counsel advised the circuit court he notified Appellant of the trial date, and met with Appellant the morning of trial. When Appellant failed to respond to the bailiff calling his name, the court found "[Appellant] had notice to be present at trial," and "[Appellant] is absent from court." (TT, pp. 1-2; R., pp. 7-8). Counsel's statements to the court established Appellant had notice, not simply of the term of court during which his case would be heard, but he knew the exact date and time the trial would commence. The record amply supports the circuit court's factual finding Appellant had the required notice of his right to be present at trial. *See Banda*, 639 S.E.2d at 39 ("an appellate court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous"); *see also Ravenell*, 692 S.E.2d at 558 (the defendant's presence at the first day of trial when his jury was drawn indicates he had notice of his right to appear).

C. Notice of Trial *in Absentia*

The circuit court found Appellant's bail bond form put him on notice the trial would proceed in his absence if he failed to appear when the case was called for trial. Appellant does not challenge that finding on appeal.

A bond form providing notice a defendant can be tried *in absentia* may serve as the requisite warning he may be tried in his absence if he fail to appear. Ravenell, 692 S.E.2d at 558. The bail bond form Appellant signed establishes Appellant knew he would be tried in his absence if he did not appear for trial, and supports the circuit court's factual finding on this issue.

D. Harmless Error

Denial of a defendant's right to be present, as well as other constitutional violations, are subject to a harmless error analysis. State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 545 S.E.2d 805, 816 (2001). "Although the right to be present is a substantial right, no presumption of prejudice arises from a defendant's exclusion." *Id.*

"A violation of the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to confront the witness is not *per se* reversible error if the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 602 S.E.2d 62, 73 (Ct. App. 2004). "Harmless beyond a reasonable doubt means the reviewing court can conclude the error did not contribute to the verdict beyond a reasonable doubt." *Id.* at 74.

Appellant does not even assert he was prejudiced by the circuit court's decision to proceed with the trial in his absence, much less indicate how he was prejudiced. The State presented testimony from both attempted murder victims, and Appellant was only absent during the first victim's testimony. Victim 1 testified he was helping break up a fight outside a club, and after the fight was over, Appellant shot him four times, shot Victim 2, and "kept shot'ing [sic] till his bullets ran out." (TT, pp. 40-43; R., pp. 46-49).

Appellant was present during the rest of the State's case (seven additional witnesses in the case-in-chief, and two witnesses in reply). In addition to Victim 1, two other witnesses positively identified Appellant as the shooter. (TT, pp. 54-128; R., pp. 60-134). Appellant was also present when counsel moved for a directed verdict and then presented the defense witnesses, as well as during the State's reply witnesses, the jury charges and closing arguments. (TT, pp.129-195; R., pp. 135-201). Finally, he was

present during the jury's deliberations, when the verdict was handed down, and when sentence was imposed. (TT, pp. 196-209; R., pp. 202-215).

There is simply no evidence Appellant's absence from the initial trial proceedings contributed to the jury's verdict. On the contrary, the circuit court specifically instructed the jury not to consider Appellant's absence in any way, and the jury is presumed to have followed that instruction. *See State v. Dunlap*, 346 S.C. 312, 550 S.E.2d 889, 893 (Ct. App. 2001) (absent evidence to the contrary, a jury is presumed to have followed the jury instructions). Given the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, any possible error in proceeding with the trial in Appellant's absence was harmless beyond any reasonable doubt.